
Full Panel Meeting
Friday, September 20, 2019

AHCA Headquarters
Tallahassee, FL

9:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m.

Pediatric Cardiac       
Technical Advisory Panel



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEETING 
AGENDA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 







 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review and Approve Minutes 
March 28, 2019 PCTAP Full Panel Meeting 

July 11, 2019 Public Reporting and Transparency 
Subcommittee Meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PCTAP DRAFT RULE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





  Proposed Text 

 

1 

 

59A-3.248 Pediatric Cardiac Programs 

(1) Licensure. A hospital authorized to provide pediatric cardiac catheterization and angioplasty, and 

pediatric open heart surgery prior to July 1, 2019, will be licensed to provide pediatric cardiac services, 

provided the requirements of this rule continue to be met. 

(a) Initial. A hospital may be authorized to provide pediatric cardiac services by submission of a 

hospital licensure application as specified in rule 59A-3.066(2), F.A.C. By submitting a licensure 

application, the hospital’s chief executive officer or designee attests that prior to receiving the license: 

1. The hospital’s operating rooms and cardiac catheterization laboratories to be used for pediatric 

cardiac services meet Florida Building Code as evidenced by approval from the Agency’s Office of Plans 

and Construction pursuant to rule 59A-3.080, F.A.C; and 

2. The hospital meets the requirements of this rule. 

(b) Renewal. The hospital’s chief executive officer or designee must attest as part of the biennial 

licensure renewal application as specified in rule 59A-3.066(2), F.A.C., that the requirements of this rule, 

including minimum volume requirements, continue to be met. 

(2) Quality of Care. 

(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services must: 

1. Ensure all staff participating as members of a catheterization team or cardiovascular surgery team, 

including physicians, nurses, and technical staff, participate in a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week call 

schedule capable of rapid mobilization of the team(s) within 30 minutes for emergency catheterization 

procedures and capable of cardiovascular surgery within 2 hours; 

2. Develop a quality assurance and improvement program, including a risk adjustment surgical 

procedure protocol following the guidelines established by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, to monitor 

processes and outcomes, analyze data, and identify system improvements for each component of pediatric 

cardiac services, and integrate the program into the hospital wide quality improvement program as 

required by rule 59A-3.271, F.A.C.; 

3. Have written policies and procedures for the transition of care from pediatric to adult congenital 



  Proposed Text 

 

2 

 

services, including providing information on recommendations on endocarditis prophylaxis, 

anticoagulation therapy, diet, weight control, contraception, pregnancy risk with referral to maternal-fetal 

medicine physicians as appropriate, and exercise limitations; 

4. Provide female adult congenital patients pre-pregnancy counseling, and genetic couseling and fetal 

echocardiography studies, as appropriate; and  

5. Participate in national registries as specified in subsection (7) of this rule. 

(b) As a condition for biennial licensure renewal, a hospital providing pediatric cardiac services must 

meet or exceed minimum volume requirements for pediatric and adult congenital procedures.  Hospitals 

authorized to perform adult cardiovascular services may include patients up to 21 years of age for the 

following:  

1. At least100 cardiac catheterization procedures annually, averaged over a 2-year period, of which 50 

procedures must be interventional, excluding myocardial biopsies; 

2. At least 30 electrophysiology procedures annually, averaged over a 2-year period, of which 18 are 

ablations; 

3. At least 50 pediatric stress tests annually, averaged over a 2-year period; and 

4. At least 100 pediatric cardiac surgical procedures, averaged over a 2-year period. 

(c) Each hospital must have the capability to provide: 

1. Immediate endocardiac catheter pacemaking in cases of cardiac arrest; 

2. Pressure recording for monitoring and evaluation of valvular disease or heart failure; 

3. Repair or replacement of heart valves; 

4. Repair of congenital heart defects; 

5. Cardiovascular revascularization; 

6. Repair or reconstruction of intrathoracic vessels, and 

7. Treatment of cardiac trauma. 

(d) Ambulatory care clinics serving pediatric and adult congenital patients must be located on the 

hospital premises and must: 



  Proposed Text 

 

3 

 

1. Meet the requirements for ambulatory care services as described in rule 59A-3.244(1), F.A.C.; 

2. Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, exercise and 

metabolic stress testing, imaging, and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of pediatric and adult 

congenital patients; 

3. Have a board certified pediatric cardiologist immediately available whenever a stress test is being 

performed; 

4. Have a licensed APRN or PA to coordinate care for adult congenital patients; 

5. Conduct stress testing with at least one staff who is Pediatric Advanced Life Support or Advanced 

Cardiac Life Support certified in the room at all times with the patient during the test; and 

6. Have at least one Basic Life Support certified cardiology technologist or respiratory care 

practitioner immediately available whenever a stress test is being performed. 

(e) Hospitals providing birthing services must have a neonatal screening program using pulse 

oximetry to detect critical congenital heart disease. 

(f) Each hospital must have policies and procedures for accommodating a parent, relative or guardian 

of a pediatric patient to stay overnight with the patient. 

(3) Personnel.  

(a) Medical Director. Pediatric cardiac services must be under the direction of one or more physician 

members of the hospital’s organized medical staff. 

1. The pediatric cardiac catheterization laboratory and ambulatory care cardiac clinic must be under 

the direction of a physician board certified or eligible by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the 

American Board of Pediatrics.  

2. Electrophysiology services must be under the direction of a pediatric electrophysiologist board 

certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics and by the 

International Board of Heart Rhythm Examiners. 

3. Adult congenital services must be under the direction of a physician board certified by the Adult 

Congenital Heart Disease sub-board of the American Board of Internal Medicine. 



  Proposed Text 

 

4 

 

(b). Medical Staff. The medical director(s) must ensure trained and qualified physician members of 

the organized medical staff are available at all times to meet the needs of the patients. 

1. The physician in charge of a cardiac catheterization procedure must be board certified or eligible 

by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics. 

2. The physician in charge of an electrophysiology procedure must be a pediatric electrophysiologist 

board certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics.  

3. At least one pediatric cardiovascular surgeon must be board certified or eligible by the American 

Board of Thoracic Surgery, specialty certification in congenital cardiac surgery. 

4. Board eligible physicians must be board certified within 5 years of becoming eligible. 

5. A physician who is not board certified, or who is not eligible due to foreign training or similar 

circumstance may provide pediatric cardiac services upon documentation of education, training, or 

alternative certification acceptable to the medical director and hospital’s governing board or designated 

credentialing committee. 

6. A cardiovascular surgery team, including an anesthesiologist and thoracic surgeon must be 

immediately available during interventional and electrophysiology cardiac catheterizations. 

7. The organized medical staff membership must contain a complement of physicians with training or 

experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including: 

a. Pediatric cardiologists; 

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology; 

c. Radiologists; 

d. Anesthesiologists; and 

e. Pathologists. 

8. All physicians caring for adult congenital patients must be Advanced Cardiac Life Support 

certified. 

(c) Nursing Staff. Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided must have a 



  Proposed Text 

 

5 

 

number of registered nurses on duty at all times to ensure immediate availability to any patient when 

needed.  

1. The cardiac catheterization, elecrophysiology and cardiovascular surgical services must have 

registred nurses with special training in cardiovascular techniques in the care of pediatric and adult 

congenital heart patients and have skills in the pre and post procedure evaluations and provision of 

instruction to the patient and their family members. 

2. Registred nurses providing care in the cardiac catheterization and elecrophysiology laboratories 

must be trained in cardiovascular implantable electronic device management and be certified in Basic Life 

Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support. 

(d) Additional Staff. Each hospital providing pediatric cardiac services must have a number of 

perfusionists, cardiovascular technologists, respiratory therapists, radiologic technicians, clinical 

laboratory personnel, and social workers available at all times to meet the needs of any patient. 

1. Cardiovascular technologists must be credentialed as a Registered Cardiovascular Invasive 

Specialist or Registered Cardiac Electrophysiology Specialist or must complete a hospital-based 

education and training program acceptable to the medical director. 

2. Cardiovascular technologists serving as the cardiovascular recorder must have no other duties 

during a procedure. 

(4) Physical Plant Requirements.  

The Florida Building Code contains the physical plant requirements for cardiac catheterization 

laboratories and operating rooms for cardiac surgery operated by a licensed hospital. 

(5) Equipment. 

(a) Each hospital must have policies and procedures for the selection, procurement, use, and 

maintenance of age and size appropriate equipment used for pediatric cardiac services, and must 

document preventive and daily maintenance activities following manufacturer’s directions. 

(b) Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided must have: 

1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 



  Proposed Text 

 

6 

 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance. 

2. A crash cart containing the necessary medication and age and size appropriate equipment for 

ventilatory support. A listing of all crash cart contents must be readily available. At the beginning of each 

shift, the crash cart must be checked for intact lock; the defribrillator and corresponding equipment must 

be checked for function and operational capacity. A log must be maintained indicating review. 

3. A quality improvement program for radiographic imaging systems must include measures of image 

quality, dynamic range and modulation transfer function. 

(c) Each hospital must have age and size appropriate equipment available for patients receiving 

pediatric cardiac services, including: 

1. Multi-dimentional imaging equipment for magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance 

angiography (MRI/MRA), computed tomography, echocardiography, and scintigraphy; 

2. A special procedure x-ray room with diagnostic x-ray examination table; 

3. X-ray equipment with the capability in cineangiocardiography, or equipment with similar 

capabilities; 

4. An image intensifier; 

5. An automatic injector; 

6. An electrocardiograph; 

7. A multi-channel electrophysiology recording system; 

8. A cardiopulmonary monitoring system; 

9. Emergency equipmernt, including temporary pacemaker units with catheters, ventilatory assistance 

devices, and a DC defibrillator;  

10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s; and 

11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine. 

(d) Cardiac MRI scanners must: 

1. Be accredited by a national accrediting organization that is approved by the Centers for Medicare 

and Medicaid Services for magnetic resonance imaging and advanced diagnostic imaging services; 



  Proposed Text 

 

7 

 

2. Have field strength of > 1.5 Tesla and equipped with localized multichannel radiofrequency surface 

coil and ECG gating capable of prospective triggering, retrospective gating, and triggered retrogating; 

3. Have an MRI-compatible power injector for performing myocardial perfusion MR imaging or any 

MR angiographic methods. 

4. Be capable of fast 3-D gradient-echo imaging, steady-state imaging with free precession, phase- 

contrast flow quantification, fast multi-slice myocardial perfusion imaging, and late contrast-enhanced 

myocardial imaging. Parallel imaging and half-Fourier capabilities are desirable to permit shortened 

breath-hold requirements. 

(e) In addition to the requirements in rule 59A-3.270, F.A.C., each hospital must maintain a complete 

database of patients with devices to include all device models and ID numbers, and Lead models and ID 

numbers. 

(6) Emergency Transportation. 

Each hospital must have policies and procedures to effectuate the rapid transport of pediatric and 

adult congenital patients 

(7) Data Reporting.   

(a) Each hospital must submit quarterly utilization data to the Agency as required by rules 59C-1.032 

and 59C-1.033, F.A.C. 

(b) Each hospital must submit data to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery 

Database, including the Anesthesia Model in the manner set forth herein. Each hospital must be deemed 

to have certified that the data submitted for each time period is accurate, complete and verifiable. Data 

must be submitted in accordance with the timetables and procedures established by the Society of 

Thoracic Surgeons National Database, and: 

1. All data must be reported using the specific data elements, definitions and transmission format as 

set forth by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons; 

2. Maintain participation in the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database; 

3. Release the data reported by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database to the Agency 



  Proposed Text 

 

8 

 

upon request; 

4. Publish cardiac surgical outcomes to the public on the Society of Thoracic Surgeons website 

https://publicreporting.sts.org and maintain no less than a 2-star rating for congenital heart surgery as 

determined by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons; 

5. Use the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database and use software approved by the Society 

of Thoracic Surgeons for data reporting; 

6. Ensure that software formats are established and maintained in a manner that meets Society of 

Thoracic Surgeons transmission specifications and encryption requirements.  If necessary, each hospital 

must contract with a vendor approved by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database for 

software and hardware required for data collection and reporting; 

7. Implement procedures to transmit data via a secure website or other means necessary to protect 

patient privacy. To the extent required by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database;  

8. Ensure that all appropriate data is submitted on every patient who receives medical care and is 

eligible for inclusion in the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database; 

9. Maintain an updated and current institutional profile with the Society of Thoracic Surgeons 

National Database; 

10. Ensure that data collection and reporting will only be performed by trained, competent staff and 

that such staff must adhere to Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database standards; 

11. Submit corrections to any data submitted to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database 

as discovered by the hospital or by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database. Such corrections 

must be submitted within thirty days of discovery of the need for a correction or within such other time 

frame as set forth by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database. Data submitted must be at a 

level that the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database will include the data in national benchmark 

reporting; 

12. Designate a Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database site manager that will serve as a 

primary contact between the hospital and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database with regard 



  Proposed Text 

 

9 

 

to data reporting; and 

13. The following quality assurance data must be compiled annually from their Society of Thoracic 

Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database Report and available for Agency review upon request: 

a. Number of patients/operations submitted and an analysis of operative mortality, and complexity 

information, by year; 

b. Number of patient/operations in analysis, operative mortality, and complexity information, by age 

group; 

c. Primary Procedure Operative Mortality; 

d. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality 

Category Operative Mortality, by year; 

e. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality 

Category Operative Mortality, by age group. 

(c). Report to the American College of Cardiology IMPACT Data Registry in accordance with the 

timetables and procedures established by the Registry, and: 

1. Submit reports using the specific data elements, definitions, timetables, transmission format, 

required software, and procedures established and in accordance with the Registry criteria; 

2. Ensure that software formats are established and maintained in a manner that meets transmission 

specifications and encryption requirements necessary to protect patient privacy; 

3. Maintain an updated and current institutional profile with the Registry; and 

4. Maintain participation in the Registry. 

(d) Each hospital must register with the Adult Congenital Heart Association and submit data as 

required by the Adult Congenital Heart Association in order to maintain a current registration. 

(e) Each hospital must register with the Adult Congenital & Pediatric Cardiology Quality Network of 

the American College of Cardiology and participate in 2 or more quality metrics defined by the American 

College of Cardiology. Data submitted for each quality metric must be in a format provided by the Adult 

Congenital & Pediatric Cardiology Quality Network. 



  Proposed Text 

 

10 

 

(8) Enforcement. 

(a) Enforcement of these rules must follow procedures established in rule 59A-3.253, F.A.C. 

(b) Unless in the view of the Agency there is a threat to the health, safety or welfare of patients, 

hospitals with pediatric cardiac services programs that fail to meet provisions of this rule must be given 

15 days to develop a plan of correction that must be acceptable to the Agency. 

(c) Failure of the hospital with a pediatric cardiac services program to make improvements specified 

in the plan of correction must result in the suspension or revocation of the program license. The hospital 

may offer evidence of mitigation and such evidence could result in a lesser sanction. 

Rulemaking Authority 395.1055, 408.036, 408.0361 FS. Law Implemented 395.1055, 408.0361 FS. 

History–New ___________. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

PCTAP RULE CROSSWALK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

1 Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Centers (PCCC) 

undergo a quality assurance process that ensures such PCCC meet established minimum standards 

deemed necessary for the provision of quality cardiac services to children with special health care needs. 

 NOTE: refer to statutory authority s. 395.1055, F.S.

2 AHCA supports the creation of policies to foster growth of Centers of Excellence.  NOTE: not rule appropriate

3 The Pediatric Cardiac Technical Advisory Panel (PCTAP) shall be consulted for Certificate of Need 

applications for new programs under the advisement of the Secretary of AHCA. 

 NOTE: refer to statutory authority s. 395.1055, F.S.

4 Site visits should occur at least once every three years for each pediatric cardiovascular centers in 

Florida. The site visit shall be conducted by a team that consists of multidisciplinary professionals 

licensed to practice within the state. At a minimum the survey team shall include one pediatric cardiac 

surgeon, one pediatric interventional cardiologist, one pediatric electrophysiologist and one pediatric non-

invasive cardiologist. The multidisciplinary team shall be proposed by the Chair and/or vice chair of the 

PCTAP. Following a survey the written findings shall be reviewed by the PCTAP committee and 

recommendations forwarded to the AHCA Secretary for consideration.

 NOTE: refer to statutory authority s. 395.1055, F.S.

5 An AHCA PCCC must provide care for all PCCC enrolled individuals with congenital and acquired heart 

disease who require such expertise 

 NOTE: Not rule appropriate.  Refer to emergency services and care.

6 PCCC in Florida shall maintain a 2 or 3- star rating or equivalent as determined by The Society of 

Thoracic Surgeons (STS) database. Programs who fail to meet this standard will be reviewed by the 

PCTAP committee and recommendations for corrective action will be made to the Agency.

(7)(b)4  Publish cardiac surgical outcomes to the public on the Society of Thoracic Surgeons website 

https://public reporting.sts.org and maintain no less than a 2-star rating for congenital heart surgery as 

determined by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons;

Page 1 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

7 Minimum Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory volume standards shall be 100 cases of which 50 cases are 

interventional (except for myocardial biopsies); and  an electrophysiology volume standard of 30 cases of 

which 18 are ablations. For volume standard purposes, “pediatric cardiac” cases include children with 

congenital and acquired heart disease under age 21 years and adults 21 years or older with congenital 

heart disease.

(2)(b) As a condition for biennial licensure renewal, a hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall 

meet or exceed minimum volume requirements for pediatric and adult congenital procedures.  Hospitals 

authorized to perform adult cardiovascular services may include patients up to 21 years of age for the 

following:

1. At least 100 pediatric cardiac catheterization procedures annually, averaged over a 2-year period, of 

which 50 procedures must be interventional, excluding myocardial biopsies;

2. At least 30 pediatric electrophysiology procedures annually, averaged over a 2-year period, of which 

18 are ablations;

3. At least 50 pediatric stress tests annually, averaged over a 2-year period; and

4. At least 100 pediatric cardiac surgical procedures, averaged over a 2-year period.

 NOTE: Refer to definitions in rule 59A-3.065, FAC

“Adult congenital patient” means a person age 18 years and over who previously received pediatric 

cardiac services for congenital heart disease, or who was referred for specialized procedures for 

congenital heart disease.  A hospital authorized to provide pediatric cardiac services may provide the 

services to adult congenital patients regardless of the age of the patient.

“Pediatric patient” means a person under the age of 18 years. 

“Pediatric cardiac services” means integrated hospital services providing age-appropriate diagnostic and 

interventional cardiac catheterization and cardiovascular surgical services on the premises of the hospital 

and available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week to pediatric and adult congenital patients.  Hospitals 

providing pediatric cardiac services must have the capability to provide treatment of cardiac trauma, 

coronary angioplasty, valvuloplasty, echocardiography, cardiac electrophysiology, advanced cardiac 

imaging, post-operative intensive care, and outpatient cardiac clinic services. For the purpose of Rule 

59A-3.248, F.A.C., cardiovascular surgical services does not include heart transplantation.

8 For the purposes of AHCA PCCC program evaluation, development and review, each distinct facility 

component will be surveyed individually within a multi-site PCCC. Each of its individual components must 

meet or exceed standards; that is, each hospital-based team must perform the minimum number of 

echocardiograms, catheterizations, electrophysiologic studies and surgeries specified herein. Each 

component in the AHCA PCCC shall be evaluated based on its own merits.

 NOTE: refer to statutory authority s. 395.1055, F.S.

9 All AHCA PCCC must:

1.   Be located within a healthcare facility that maintains accreditation by the Joint Commission on 

Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) and/or the National Committee for Quality Assurance 

(NCQA).

 NOTE: Unclear. Accreditation (hospital-wide) is voluntary. 

10 2.   Be HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) compliant.  NOTE: Federal law. Crossover to patient's rights per s. 381 and 395, FS and rule 59A-3.254 FAC

Page 2 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

11 3.   Provide limited English proficiency services, in accordance with Federal guidelines. Federal LEP guidelines - civil rights, patient's rights

12 4.   Have quality assurance and quality improvement processes in place that continuously enhance the 

clinical operation and patient satisfaction with services.

(2)(a)2 Develop a quality assurance and improvement program, including a risk adjustment surgical 

procedure protocol following the guidelines established by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, to monitor 

processes and outcomes, analyze data, and identify system improvements for each component of 

pediatric cardiac services, and integrate the program into the hospital wide quality improvement program 

as required by rule 59A-3.271, F.A.C.

13 5.  Actively participate in the STS Congenital Heart Surgery Database.

6.   Participate in the STS Congenital Heart Surgery Database Anesthesia Module.

(2)(a)5  Participate in national registries as specified in subsection (7) of this rule.

(7)(b) Each hospital must submit data to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery 

Database, including the Anesthesia Model in the manner set forth herein. Each hospital shall be deemed 

to have certified that the data submitted for each time period is accurate, complete and verifiable. Data 

must be submitted in accordance with the timetables and procedures established by the Society of 

Thoracic Surgeons National Database, 

14 7.   Participate in the Improving Pediatric and Adult Congenital Treatments (IMPACT) databases. (7)(c) Report to the American College of Cardiology IMPACT Data Registry in accordance with the 

timetables and procedures established by the Registry, and:

1. Submit reports using the specific data elements, definitions, timetables, transmission format, required 

software, and procedures established and in accordance with the Registry criteria;

2. Ensure that software formats are established and maintained in a manner that meets transmission 

specifications and encryption requirements necessary to protect patient privacy;

3. Maintain an updated and current institutional profile with the Registry; and

4. Maintain participation in the Registry.

15 8.   Collect and submit the following quality assurance data annually, from their annual STS Congenital 

Heart Surgery Database Report:

·         Number of patients/operations submitted and an analysis of operative mortality, and complexity 

information, by year

·         Number of patient/operations in analysis, operative mortality, and complexity information, by age 

group

·         Primary Procedure Operative Mortality

·         STS-EACTS (STAT) (European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery) Mortality Category 

Operative Mortality, by year

·         STS-EACTS (STAT) Mortality Category Operative Mortality, by age group

(7)(b)13  The following quality assurance data must be compiled annually from their Society of Thoracic 

Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database Report and available for Agency review upon request:

a. Number of patients/operations submitted and an analysis of operative mortality, and complexity 

information, by year;

b. Number of patient/operations in analysis, operative mortality, and complexity information, by age 

group;

c. Primary Procedure Operative Mortality;

d. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality Category 

Operative Mortality, by year;

e. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality Category 

Operative Mortality, by age group.

Page 3 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

16 All AHCA PCCC with birthing centers must have a neonatal screening program using pulse oximetry to 

detect critical congenital heart disease. Data from such a screening program will be transmitted annually, 

by the involved institutions, to the AHCA. The Secretary of the AHCA shall request the Surgeon 

General/Secretary of the Department of Health to forward to the Agency, the annual findings of this 

screening program. This data shall be made available to the PCTAP for review.

(2)(e) Hospitals providing birthing services shall have a neonatal screening program using pulse oximetry 

to detect critical congenital heart disease.

17 A multidisciplinary cardiac team must include pediatric cardiology, cardiovascular surgery, cardiovascular 

anesthesia, nursing, ancillary and support staff associated with pre- operative patient selection and 

preparation, the surgical or catheterization procedure, and post-operative care and follow-up.

(2)(a)  A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

1. Ensure all staff participating as members of the catheterization team or cardiovascular surgery team, 

including physicians, nurses, and technical staff must participate in a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week 

call schedule capable of rapid mobilization of the team(s) within 30 minutes for emergency 

catheterization procedures and capable of cardiovascular surgery within 2 hours;

18 All physicians and other licensed healthcare professionals that require credentialing through the 

Department of Health (DOH) or the Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR) 

credentialing process and are providing care at an AHCA PCCC must be credentialed providers, as 

specified in rule 64C-4.001 Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.). 

 NOTE: Unclear.  Seems to refer to Wellcare managed care plan.

19 Facilities requesting to be involved as a AHCA PCCC must submit a formal request to the Secretary of 

AHCA or designee, following the established Certificate of Need (CON) process.

(1) Licensure. A hospital licensed to provide pediatric cardiac catheterization and angioplasty, and 

pediatric open heart surgery prior to July 1, 2019 shall be licensed to provide pediatric cardiac services 

effective July 1, 2019, provided the requirements of this rule continue to be met.

(a) Initial. A hospital may be authorized to provide pediatric cardiac services by submission of a hospital 

licensure application as specified in subsection 59A-3.066(2), F.A.C. By submitting a licensure 

application, the hospital’s chief executive officer or designee attests that prior to initiating the services:

1. The hospital’s operating rooms and cardiac catheterization laboratories to be used for pediatric cardiac 

services meet Florida Building Code as evidenced by approval from the Agency’s Office of Plans and 

Construction pursuant to rule 59A-3.080, F.A.C; and

2. The hospital shall meet the requirements of this rule as described in a program narrative. 

(b) Renewal. The hospital’s chief executive officer or designee must attest as part of the biennial 

licensure renewal application as specified in subsection 59A-3.066(2), F.A.C. that the requirements of 

this rule continue to be met.

Page 4 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

20 The following standards are required for entering into, and continuing in, an agreement with AHCA as a 

PCCC. An AHCA PCCC will consist of the following co- located components:

I.       Pediatric and Congenital Cardiology Clinic

II.      Pediatric and Congenital Echocardiography Laboratory

III.     Pediatric and Congenital Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory

IV.     Pediatric and Congenital Cardiac Electrophysiology (EP) Program

V.      Advanced Congenital Cardiac Imaging

VI.     Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Centers

 NOTE: Refer to definitions in rule 59A-3.065, FAC

“Pediatric cardiac services” means integrated hospital services providing age-appropriate diagnostic and 

interventional cardiac catheterization and cardiovascular surgical services on the premises of the hospital 

and available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week to pediatric and adult congenital patients.  Hospitals 

providing pediatric cardiac services must have the capability to provide treatment of cardiac trauma, 

coronary angioplasty, valvuloplasty, echocardiography, cardiac electrophysiology, advanced cardiac 

imaging, post-operative intensive care, and outpatient cardiac clinic services. For the purpose of Rule 

59A-3.248, F.A.C., cardiovascular surgical services does not include heart transplantation.

21 I.     Pediatric and Congenital Cardiology Clinic

A.   Pediatric and Congenital Cardiology Clinic:

1.   Physicians – The physician in charge of a Pediatric Cardiology Clinic must be board-certified by the 

Sub-board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics. Recertification or maintenance of 

competency (MOC) certificates or equivalent of such a physician will be an integral component of all 

future program evaluations and development reviews. Board eligibility as an equivalent for board 

certification will not be considered as a criterion for credentialing beyond 5 years of eligibility unless a 

specific exception is made by the Secretary of AHCA or designee, upon the recommendation of the 

PCTAP.

(3)(a) Medical Director. Pediatric cardiac services shall be under the direction of one or more physician 

members of the hospital’s organized medical staff.

1. The pediatric cardiac catheterization laboratory and outpatient cardiac clinic shall be under the 

direction of a physician board certified or eligible by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the 

American Board of Pediatrics.  

(3)(b) 4. Board eligible physicians must be board certified within 5 years of becoming eligible.

5. A physician who is not board certified, or who is not eligible due to foreign training or similar 

circumstance may provide pediatric cardiac services upon documentation of education, training, or 

alternative certification acceptable to the medical director and hospital’s governing board or designated 

credentialing committee.

 NOTE: Hospitals must meet ambulatory care requirements at 59A-3.244 and Florida Building Code, as 

appropriate.
22 B.   Holter Monitoring Laboratory: (2)(d)  Ambulatory care clinics serving pediatric and adult congenital patients must be located on the 

hospital premises and shall:

1. Meet the requirements for ambulatory care services as described in rule 59A-3.244(1), F.A.C.; 

2. Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, exercise and metabolic 

stress testing, imaging, and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of the pediatric and adult 

congenital patients;

23 1.   A physician who is board certified in pediatric cardiology. (2)(d)3 Have a board certified pediatric cardiologist immediately available whenever a stress test is being 

performed;

24 2.   Personnel must have medical record access to previous Holter monitor studies and full print out of 

arrhythmias for comparison.

 NOTE: see 59A-3.270, 59A-3.254

Page 5 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

25 C. Exercise Treadmill Laboratory:

1. A physician who is board certified in pediatric cardiology.

2. A Basic Life Support (BLS) certified cardiology technologist or respiratory care practitioner immediately 

available.

3. Pediatric Advanced Life Support (PALS) or ACLS trained personnel in close proximity when a pediatric 

study <15 years of age is being performed.

(2)(d)5 Conduct stress testing with at least one staff who is Pediatric Advanced Life Support or Advanced 

Cardiac Life Support certified in the room at all times with the patient during the test; and

6. Have at least one Basic Life Support certified cardiology technologist or respiratory care practitioner 

immediately available whenever a stress test is being performed.

26 4.   The exercise treadmill lab must include a remote “code” button and telephone.  NOTE: Florida Building Code.  Codes many vary depending on location and services within that location.

27 5.   Each center should have access to a metabolic exercise laboratory, in which oxygen utilization and 

the anaerobic threshold can be determined, as an adjunct to detecting early failing cardiopulmonary 

function.

6.  All licensed PCCC institutions should follow the guidelines set forth in the American Heart Association 

Scientific Statement on "Clinical Stress Testing in the Pediatric Age Group" (Circulation. 2006; 113:1905-

1920).

7.  Specifically, licensure as a PCCC requires that involved institutions:

a.  Maintain an appropriate pediatric exercise physiology laboratory, including

i.   Age- and size-appropriate treadmill and/or cycle ergometer

ii.  Age- and size-appropriate blood pressure cuffs

iii. Age- and size-appropriate oxygen saturation monitor

iv. EKG recording equipment

v.  An emergency resuscitation cart that includes emergency drugs, a defibrillator, supplemental oxygen, 

and a portable suction unit

vi. A log demonstrating periodic testing of the defibrillator and oxygen supply, and periodic inspection of 

emergency drug expiration dates

vii. Conduct all stress tests with at least one person trained in PALS in the room at all times with the 

patient during the test

(5)(a) Each hospital shall have policies and procedures for the selection, procurement, use, and 

maintenance of age and size appropriate equipment used for pediatric cardiac services.

(b) Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have:

1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance.

2. A crash cart containing the necessary medication and equipment for ventilatory support. A listing of all 

crash cart contents shall be readily available. At the beginning of each shift, the crash cart shall be 

checked for intact lock; the defribrillator and corresponding equipment shall be checked for function and 

operational capacity. A log shall be maintained indicating review.

(2)(d)5 Conduct stress testing with at least one staff who is Pediatric Advanced Life Support or Advanced 

Cardiac Life Support certified in the room at all times with the patient during the test; and

6. Have at least one Basic Life Support certified cardiology technologist or respiratory care practitioner 

immediately available whenever a stress test is being performed.

28 b.   Conduct all stress tests with a pediatric cardiologist immediately available (i.e. in the building) (2)(d)3 Have a board certified pediatric cardiologist immediately available whenever a stress test is being 

performed;

29 c.    Perform a minimum of 50 pediatric exercise stress tests per year (2)(b)3 At least 50 pediatric stress tests annually, averaged over a 2-year period.

30 d.   Obtain meaningful written consent for the stress test (which may be a hospital-wide standard consent 

form filled out specifically for stress testing)

 NOTE: 59A-3.270

31 8.   Licensed PCCC institutions are recommended to:

a.    Have oversight of the laboratory and testing procedures provided by a physician trained in exercise 

testing and exercise physiology

 NOTE: 59A-3.275

32 b.    Be able to perform spirometry/pulmonary function testing

c.    Be able to perform metabolic stress tests

d.    Be able to perform or refer patients for stress echocardiography

e.    Be able to perform or refer patients for pharmacologic stress testing

f.     Be able to perform or refer patients for nuclear myocardial blood flow imaging

(2)(d)2 Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, stress testing, 

imaging, and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of the pediatric and adult congenital patients;

Page 6 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

33 D.  Serial monitoring and management of implanted electronic devices, such as pacemakers and 

defibrillators should be an integral component of any center.

(2)(d)2. Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, stress testing, 

imaging, and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of the pediatric and adult congenital patients;

(3)(c)2. Registred nurses providing care in the cardiac catheterization and elecrophysiology laboratories 

must be trained and experienced with cardiovascular implantable electronic device management and be 

certified in Basic Life Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support.

34 E.   Adult Congenital Heart Programs:  NOTE: integrated with pediatric - same requirements

35 1.   All adults with congenital heart disease must have access to appropriate care. Pediatric cardiac 

programs must have a written policy detailing transition of care to an adult congenital program.

(2)(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

3. Have written policies and procedures for the transition of care from pediatric to adult congenital 

services, including providing information on recommendations on endocarditis prophylaxis, 

anticoagulation therapy, diet, weight control, contraception, pregnancy risk with referral to maternal-fetal 

medicine physicians as appropriate, and exercise limitations; 
36 2.   Each PCCC must have as a goal to provide care in alignment with national standards, utilizing as 

guidelines those of the Adult Congenital Heart Association (ACHA). Each program, within 3 years, shall 

request a formal site visit by the staff of the AHCA.

3.   AHCA accredited Comprehensive Adult Congenital Heart Programs and regionalization of expertise 

are encouraged.

4.   Existing national and international guidelines, which outline the care provided in Adult Congenital 

Heart Programs, should be utilized.

5.   All ACHD programs must be registered with the ACHA and submit required data at established 

intervals.

(7)(d) Each hospital must register with the Adult Congenital Heart Association and submit data as 

required by the Adult Congenital Heart Association in order to maintain a current registration.

 NOTE: possible confusion with acromyns in PCTAP recommendation document.

37 6.   Personnel

a.    The program must be directed by a physician with special skills and training in caring for the adult 

patient with congenital heart disease.

b.   ACHD program directors shall be board certified by the ABIM ACHD sub-Board.

(3)(a)3. Adult congenital services shall be under the direction of a physician board certified by the Adult 

Congenital Heart Disease sub-board of the American Board of Internal Medicine.

38 c.    Congenital Heart Surgeon(s) with expertise in the unique surgical aspects and challenges of the 

adult congenital heart patient.

 NOTE: 59A-3.275

39 d.   Social Worker who is available to the adult patient to provide counseling and support services. (3)(d) Additional Staff. Each hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall have a number of 

perfusionists, cardiovascular technologists, respiratory therapists, radiologic technicians, clinical 

laboratory personnel, and social workers  available at all times to meet the needs of any patient.

40 e.    A health professional (ARNP or PA) whose role includes coordinating care for ACHD patients. (2)(d)4. Have a licensed APRN or PA to coordinate care for adult congenital patients; and

41 f.     Availability, defined by active medical staff or written policy, of Adult Medicine sub-specialty 

physicians to provide consultative care.

 NOTE: 59A-3.275

42 g.    All physicians caring for the ACHD patient must be ACLS certified. (3)(b)8. All physicians caring for adult congenital patients must be Advanced Cardiac Life Support 

certified.

Page 7 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

43 h.   All staff performing exercise testing on ACHD patient must be ACLS certified. (2)(d)5 Conduct stress testing with at least one staff who is Pediatric Advanced Life Support or Advanced 

Cardiac Life Support certified in the room at all times with the patient during the test; and

6. Have at least one Basic Life Support certified cardiology technologist or respiratory care practitioner 

immediately available whenever a stress test is being performed.

44 7.   Clinic Physical Space

a.    The clinic space used for evaluation of adult patients must be in accordance with their specific 

needs.

b.   Facility must be accessible to handicapped Individuals.

c.    Availability of EKG, X-Rays, MRI studies, Echocardiography, and exercise/metabolic stress testing

d.   Availability of a conference room for multi-disciplinary meetings.

 NOTE: Florida Building Code and Life Safety Code

45 8.   Hospital and Inpatient Facilities

a.    The admitting facility must have expertise in the care of adults with congenital heart disease.

b.   The ACHD Program must have access to a fully equipped cardiac catheterization laboratory with 

appropriately trained personnel.

c.    The ACHD Program must meet national standards in all cardiac catheterization interventional and 

electrophysiology procedures.

d.   The ACHD Program must offer a comprehensive cardiovascular surgical program, with established 

commitment from cardiac intensivists, anesthesiologists, and other adult medical and surgical 

subspecialties.

 NOTE: Rules will set standards for OHS and Cardiac Cath.

46 9.   Patient Care Characteristics Specific to an ACHD Program – Recommendations and Specific 

Requirements:

a.    Complete transition into the ACHD clinic should be individualized by the treating pediatric 

cardiologist, taking into account patient age, maturity, special psychosocial needs, and wishes of the 

parent(s).

b.   Adult female patients with congenital heart disease must have access to professional staff expert in 

the management of contraception and pre-pregnancy counseling. In addition, Genetic Counseling and 

Fetal Echocardiography studies must be available.

c.    Pregnant patients with moderate to high complexity congenital heart disease must be evaluated as a 

High-Risk Pregnancy and referred to Maternal-Fetal Medicine Physicians.

d.   Health maintenance programs for adolescents and adult patients with CHD should be initiated by 

providing each patient with information related to, but not limited, to recommendations on endocarditis 

prophylaxis, anticoagulation therapy, diet, weight control, contraception, pregnancy risk and exercise 

limitations.

(2)(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

3. Have written policies and procedures for the transition of care from pediatric to adult congenital 

services, including providing information on recommendations on endocarditis prophylaxis, 

anticoagulation therapy, diet, weight control, contraception, pregnancy risk with referral to maternal-fetal 

medicine physicians as appropriate and exercise limitations; 

4. Provide female adult congenital patients pre-pregnancy counseling, and genetic couseling and fetal 

echocardiography studies, as appropriate;

Page 8 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

47 g.    Annual updates on information submitted by each center to the ACHA regarding ACHD activities 

should be forwarded to the AHCA program staff within 30 days of such submission.

 NOTE: Unclear. Refer to (8)(d).  Participation with ACHA will be verified at license renewal. Information 

is posted on the ACHA website.

48 h.   High Risk Obstetrical Cases with Fetal Cardiac Anomalies- Each PCCC must have an established 

protocol to address the needs of such patients, usually high-risk obstetrical cases having a cardiac fetal 

anomaly diagnosed by fetal echocardiography and/or ultrasound.

(2)(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

3. Have written policies and procedures for the transition of care from pediatric to adult congenital 

services, including providing information on recommendations on endocarditis prophylaxis, 

anticoagulation therapy, diet, weight control, contraception, pregnancy risk with referral to maternal-fetal 

medicine physicians as appropriate and exercise limitations; 

4. Provide female adult congenital patients pre-pregnancy counseling, and genetic couseling and fetal 

echocardiography studies, as appropriate;
49 i.      Each center shall submit at least 2 metrics to the American College of cardiology ACPC quality 

network on a quarterly basis, or frequency as designated by Qnet. Cardiac centers shall designate 

appropriate personnel for data collection and submission.

(7)(e) Each hospital must register with the Adult Congenital & Pediatric Cardiology Quality Network of the 

American College of Cardiology and participate in 2 or more quality metrics defined by thew American 

College of Cardiology. Data submitted for each quality metric shall be in a format provided by the Adult 

Congenital & Pediatric Cardiology Quality Network.

50 10.              Physical Facility General Requirements for licensed and new PCCC outpatient clinics:

a.    The area must be suitable for performance of a high quality cardiovascular examination.

b.   Examination areas must be adequately lighted, have adjustable temperature, and offer privacy to 

patients.

c.    A conference room must be available for discussing cases.

 NOTE: FBC.  Codes many vary depending on location and services within that location.

51 11.              Equipment - All clinic equipment must be monitored and maintained in accordance with 

manufacturers’ recommendations.

(5)(a) Each hospital shall have policies and procedures for the selection, procurement, use, and 

maintenance of age and size appropriate equipment used for pediatric cardiac services.

(b) Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have:

1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance.

52 12.              Radiological equipment- Access to a Radiological facility at which chest x-rays and other 

indicated radiological studies can be expeditiously performed, including access to Magnetic Resonance 

Imaging (MRI) studies, particularly to evaluate the large vessels of the chest associated with the heart.

 NOTE: 59A-3.242

Page 9 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

53 13.              Records:

a.    Permanent record of real time study must include, at a minimum, video, disk, chart, or digital or 

electronic medical records.

b.   Permanent record of real time study of Holter Monitoring studies must include one or more of the 

following: cassette tape, disk, printed paper, or digital or electronic medical records.

c.    Permanent record of real time study of exercise treadmill testing must include EKG and blood 

pressure recordings.

d.   Permanent record of real time study of serial pacemaker testing must be available.

e.    Interpretation and final approval of study reports must be performed by a physician who is board 

certified in pediatric cardiology.

f.     Medical records must be retained for a period of no less than seven (7) years in a locked area.

 NOTE: 59A-3.270

54 14.              Initial Evaluation

a.    Program evaluation and development review: If a request is received for involvement as a PCCC co-

located Pediatric Cardiology Clinic, along with attestation of compliance with these standards, a program 

evaluation and development review may be requested by the Secretary of AHCA and performed by 

members or designees of the PCTAP. A request for involvement shall not be deemed complete until the 

Secretary of AHCA or designee receives the recommendation of the PCTAP.

(1) Licensure. A hospital licensed to provide pediatric cardiac catheterization and angioplasty, and 

pediatric open heart surgery prior to July 1, 2019 shall be licensed to provide pediatric cardiac services 

effective July 1, 2019, provided the requirements of this rule continue to be met.

(a) Initial. A hospital may be authorized to provide pediatric cardiac services by submission of a hospital 

licensure application as specified in subsection 59A-3.066(2), F.A.C. By submitting a licensure 

application, the hospital’s chief executive officer or designee attests that prior to initiating the services:

1. The hospital’s operating rooms and cardiac catheterization laboratories to be used for pediatric cardiac 

services meet Florida Building Code as evidenced by approval from the Agency’s Office of Plans and 

Construction pursuant to rule 59A-3.080, F.A.C; and

2. The hospital shall meet the requirements of this rule as described in a program narrative. 

55 b.   The Secretary of AHCA or designee shall consider new facilities upon the completion of CON 

approval and requirements and the advisory recommendation of the PCTAP and the criteria established 

above.  The Secretary of AHCA or designee shall make the final decision on whether a facility may 

participate by entering into an agreement with the Agency.

AHCA licensing protocol

56 15.              Re-evaluation of licensed PCCC

a.    IAC Accreditation: By the initial or subsequent program evaluation and development review, all 

echocardiography laboratories, Transthoracic Echoes (TTE), Trans Esophageal Echoes (TEE) and Fetal 

Echoes (FE) must be accredited by the IAC, whether within the center or “off-site”.

Multiple radiology accreditation organizations exist besides IAC: ACR, TJC, Radsite.

57 16.           The Secretary of AHCA or designee considers existing facilities for continuing involvement 

upon the recommendation of the PCTAP and the criteria established above.  The Secretary of AHCA or 

designee shall make the final decision on whether or not a facility may continue such an agreement with 

the Agency.

AHCA licensing protocol

Page 10 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

58 II.  Pediatric and Congenital Echocardiography Laboratory

A.   Congenital Echocardiographic Imaging Laboratory

1.   Echocardiographic Imaging is a vital tool often relied upon by all of the other components of a 

Pediatric Cardiovascular Centers. A Congenital Echocardiographic Imaging Laboratory must be 

accredited (and reaccredited when accreditation expires) for Pediatric Echocardiography by the 

Intersocietal Accreditation Commission (IAC) in order to perform Transthoracic Echoes (TTE), Trans 

Esophageal Echoes (TEE) and Fetal Echoes (FE). The IAC accreditation process is a rigorous process 

that is constantly being improved and revised by national experts in this field. The IAC standards and 

guidelines spell out responsibilities for Echo Lab Medical Director, Technical Director, Medical Staff, 

Technical Staff, and for Support services. As well the IAC spells out standards and guidelines for the 

Echo Lab Facility, Echo examination reports and records, and Echo Lab safety. The IAC also mandates 

the facility must have a written Quality Improvement (QI) program for all imaging procedures. The IAC 

makes some accommodations for its standards and guidelines that may be a challenge for smaller 

Pediatric Cardiovascular Centers. The IAC standards and guidelines will not be separately listed here, 

details can be found at www.intersocietal.org.

Multiple radiology accreditation organizations exist besides IAC: American College of Radiology, The 

Joint Commission, Radsite.

IAC estimated costs, annualized - $750

59 III.              Pediatric Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory Component

A.   The Pediatric Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory must be co-located within a facility completely 

equipped to accommodate all aspects of the medical and surgical care of the patient.

2012 American College of Cardiology Foundation/Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and 

Interventions Expert Consensus Document on Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory Standards Update. J 

Am College Cardiology. 2012; Vol. 59 No. 24 221-2305.

 NOTE: All hospital inpatient services must be provided within a licensed facility.

60 B.   Cardiac Team

1.   Physician in Charge

a.    The physician in charge of the procedure must be board- certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric 

Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics. Pediatric cardiologists either trained in other countries or 

for any reason not eligible for certification by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American 

Board of Pediatrics and have completed additional 12 months fellowship in interventional pediatric 

cardiology may be credentialed as a DOH physician by the Surgeon General/Secretary of the 

Department of Health or designee, as a special situation after a review and in-depth evaluation by the 

PCTAP, which recommended such approval.

(3)(b)1. The physician in charge of a cardiac catheterization procedure shall be board certified or eligible 

by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics.

Page 11 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

61 2.   Consulting Physicians

a.    In addition to the physician listed above, in interventional cardiac catheterizations, an 

anesthesiologist and a thoracic surgeon, each with advanced training in the cardiovascular aspects of 

their specialty, must be immediately available within the facility or in close proximity for consultation, 

assistance, emergency and elective surgical procedures and peri-operative care.

(3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

d. Anesthesiologists; and

e. Pathologists.

62 3.   Nurse

a.    Each laboratory must have a registered nurse, with special training in cardiovascular techniques and 

in the care of children, as a full time member of the team. This nurse must have special skills in pre-

catheterization evaluation and instruction of the patient and family, care of the patient post- 

catheterization, and discharge teaching for the patient and family.

(3)(c) Nursing Staff. Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have a 

number of registered nurses on duty at all times to ensure immediate availability to any patient when 

needed. There must be at least one registered nurse for every two patients during the first hours of post-

operative care.

1. The cardiac catheterization, elecrophysiology and cardiovascular surgical services unit must have 

registred nurses with special training in cardiovascular techniques in the care of pediatric and adult 

congenital heart patients and have skills in the pre and post procedure evaluations and provision of 

instruction to the patient and their family members.

2. Registred nurses providing care in the cardiac catheterization and elecrophysiology laboratories must 

be trained and experienced with cardiovascular implantable electronic device management and be 

certified in Basic Life Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support.

63 4.   Cardiovascular Technologist

a.    Each laboratory must have a cardiovascular technologist with special training in cardiac 

catheterization laboratory techniques.

(3)(d)1. Cardiovascular technologists shall be credentialed as Registered Cardiovascular Invasive 

Specialist or Registered Cardiac Electrophysiology Specialist or shall complete a hospital-based 

education and training program acceptable to the medical director. This training program shall include a 

minimum of 500 hours proctored clinical experience, including participation in a minimum of 120 

interventional cardiology procedures and didactic education components of hemodynamics, 

pharmacology, arrhythmia recognition, radiation safety, and interventional equipment.

64 5.   Dedicated Trained Cardiovascular Recorder

a.    Each laboratory must have a dedicated trained cardiovascular recorder who has no other 

responsibilities during procedures.

(3)(d)2. Cardiovascular technologists serving as the cardiovascular recorder shall have no other duties 

during a procedure.

65 6.   Each laboratory must have immediate access to personnel trained in equipment repair and 

maintenance.

(5)(b)1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance.

Page 12 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

66 7.   Although the above required functions are well defined, it is not necessary for one person to fulfill 

each separate job category. Well defined adequate cross training for other personnel classifications 

permits 24-hour coverage of essential team functions.

8.   All technologists in a cardiovascular laboratory must be certified by the Cardiovascular Credentialing 

Institute as a Registered Cardiovascular Technologist (RCVT) and licensed by the State of Florida under 

the Clinical Laboratory law, when applicable.

(3)(d)1. Cardiovascular technologists shall be credentialed as Registered Cardiovascular Invasive 

Specialist or Registered Cardiac Electrophysiology Specialist or shall complete a hospital-based 

education and training program acceptable to the medical director. 

67 9.   Equipment: Radiological, electronic, and computer-based systems are integral components of the 

equipment in a catheterization laboratory.

These systems all require a program of rigorous maintenance and troubleshooting. For pediatric patients, 

biplane angiography, higher frame rates (30-60 fps), and higher injection rates (up to 40 mL/s) are 

required to help define abnormal intra-cardiac anatomy. The catheterization laboratory must be able to 

perform procedures in a patient supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). 2012 

American College of Cardiology Foundation/Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions 

Expert Consensus Document on Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory Standards Update. J Am College 

Cardiology. 2012; Vol. 59 No. 24 221-2305.

(5)(a) Each hospital shall have policies and procedures for the selection, procurement, use, and 

maintenance of age and size appropriate equipment used for pediatric cardiac services.

(b) Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have:

1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance.

(5)(c)10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s;

68 10.              Electrical Safety and Radiation Protection

a.    Electrical safety and radiation protection shall be followed in accordance with the manufacturer’s 

recommendations and applicable State and Federal regulations.

 NOTE: FBC and LSC

69 11.              Records

a.    Permanent record of real time study must include, at a minimum, video, disk, chart, or digital / 

electronic recordings.

b.   Interpretation and final approval of study reports must be performed by a physician who is board 

certified in pediatric cardiology.

c.    Medical records must be retained for a period of no less than seven (7) years in a secure locked 

area.

 NOTE: Hospital wide requirements per 59A-3.270

70 IV.               Pediatric and Congenital Cardiac Electrophysiology (EP) Program

A Pediatric Cardiac Electrophysiology (EP) Program is an integral part of an AHCA PCCC. The EP 

program has two main components: (1) An Interventional program in a Pediatric Cardiac 

Electrophysiology Laboratory and (2) A non-invasive inpatient and outpatient arrhythmia evaluation and 

management service. All AHCA designated centers must participate in the outpatient arrhythmia 

evaluation, management, and consultation services.

(2)(d) Ambulatory care clinics serving pediatric and adult congenital patients may be located on the 

hospital premises or at an off-site location included on the hospital license pursuant to rule 59A-3.066, 

F.A.C., and shall:

1. Meet the requirements for ambulatory care services as described in rule 59A-3.244(1), F.A.C.; 

2. Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, stress testing, imaging, 

and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of the pediatric and adult congenital patients;

Page 13 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

71 A.   Laboratory Component: The Pediatric Cardiac Electrophysiology Laboratory must be co-located 

within a facility completely equipped to accommodate all aspects of the medical and surgical care of the 

pediatric patient.

B.   Cardiac Team Physician in Charge: The physician in charge of the laboratory must be board-certified 

by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics and must be a pediatric 

electrophysiologist as defined below:

1.   Pediatric Electrophysiologist is a Pediatric Cardiology Board Certified physician, whose primary 

clinical practice is dedicated to pediatric electrophysiology activities.

2.   All pediatric electrophysiologists must be certified by the International Board of Heart Rhythm 

Examiners (IBHRE within 5 years of being board eligible.

(3)(a)2. Electrophysiology services shall be under the direction of a pediatric electrophysiologist board 

certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics andby the 

International Board of Heart Rhythm Examiners.

(3)(b)2 The physician in charge of an electrophysiology procedure must be a pediatric electrophysiologist 

board certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics.

(3)(b)4 Board eligible physicians must be board certified within 5 years of becoming eligible.

72 C.   Consulting Physicians: In addition to the physician listed above, during interventional EP cardiac 

catheterizations, an anesthesiologist and a thoracic surgeon, each with advanced training in the 

cardiovascular aspects of their specialty, must be immediately available within the facility, or in close 

proximity, for consultation, assistance, emergency and elective surgical procedures and peri-operative 

care.

(3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

d. Anesthesiologists; and

e. Pathologists.

73 D.  Nurse: Each laboratory must have a registered nurse, with special training in cardiovascular 

techniques and in the care of children, as a full time member of the team. This nurse must have special 

skills in pre and post catheterization evaluation, and management. In addition, this individual must be 

skilled in the coordination of patient and family education and provision of instructions pre and post 

procedure.

(3)(c) Nursing Staff. Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have a 

number of registered nurses on duty at all times to ensure immediate availability to any patient when 

needed. 

1. The cardiac catheterization, elecrophysiology and cardiovascular surgical services unit must have 

registred nurses with special training in cardiovascular techniques in the care of pediatric and adult 

congenital heart patients and have skills in the pre and post procedure evaluations and provision of 

instruction to the patient and their family members.

2. Registred nurses providing care in the cardiac catheterization and elecrophysiology laboratories must 

be trained in cardiovascular implantable electronic device management and be certified in Basic Life 

Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support.

Page 14 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

74 E.   Cardiovascular EP Technologist: Each laboratory must have a cardiovascular EP technologist with 

special training in cardiac EP laboratory techniques.

1.   Dedicated Trained Cardiovascular EP Recorder

a.    Each laboratory must have a dedicated trained cardiovascular EP recorder who has no other 

responsibilities during such procedures.

b.   Each laboratory must have immediate access to personnel trained in equipment repair and 

maintenance.

c.    Although the above-required functions are well defined, it is not necessary for one person to fulfill 

each separate job category. Adequate cross training for other personnel classifications permits 24-hour 

coverage of essential team functions.

2.   All technologists in a cardiovascular laboratory must be certified by the Cardiovascular Credentialing 

Institute as a Registered Cardiovascular Technologist (RCVT) and licensed by the State of Florida under 

the Clinical Laboratory law, when applicable.

(3)(d) Additional Staff. Each hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall have a number of 

perfusionists, cardiovascular technologists, respiratory therapists, radiologic technicians and clinical 

laboratory personnel available at all times to meet the needs of any patient.

1. Cardiovascular technologists shall be credentialed as Registered Cardiovascular Invasive Specialist or 

Registered Cardiac Electrophysiology Specialist or shall complete a hospital-based education and 

training program acceptable to the medical director. This training program shall include a minimum of 

500 hours proctored clinical experience, including participation in a minimum of 120 interventional 

cardiology procedures and didactic education components of hemodynamics, pharmacology, arrhythmia 

recognition, radiation safety, and interventional equipment.

2. Cardiovascular technologists serving as the cardiovascular recorder shall have no other duties during 

a procedure.

(5)(b)Each hospital unit in which pediatric cardiac services are provided shall have:

1. A protocol for handling emergency conditions related to the breakdown of essential equipment, 

including the immediate availability of personnel trained in equipment repair and maintenance.

75 F.   Equipment:

1.   Radiological, electronic, and computer-based systems are integral components of the equipment in a 

catheterization laboratory. These systems all require a program of rigorous maintenance and 

troubleshooting.  A pediatric electrophysiology laboratory must have:

a.    Multi Channel EP recording system

b.   External Defibrillation system

c.    Cardiopulmonary monitoring system

d.   Radiofrequency Energy Source

e.    It is strongly recommended that Pediatric Electrophysiology laboratories also have:

f.     3 Dimensional Mapping System

g.    Cryo ablation System

(c) Each hospital must have age and size appropriate equipment available for patients receiving pediatric 

cardiac services, including:

1. Multi-dimentional imaging equipment for magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance 

angiography, computed tomography, echocardiography, and scintigraphy;

2. A special procedure x-ray room with diagnostic x-ray examination table;

3. X-ray equipment with the capability in cineangiocardiography, or equipment with similar capabilities;

4. An image intensifier;

5. An automatic injector;

6. An electrocardiograph;

7. A multi-channel electrophysiology recording system;

8. A cardiopulmonary monitoring system;

9. Emergency equipmernt, including temprary pacemaker units with catheters, ventilatory assistance 

devices, and a DC defibrillator; 

10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s; and

11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine.

76 2.   Electrical Safety and Radiation Protection: Electrical safety and radiation protection shall be followed 

in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and applicable State and Federal regulations.

 NOTE: FBC and LSC

Page 15 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

77 G.   Records

1.   Permanent record of real time study must include, at a minimum, video, disk, chart, or digital / 

electronic recordings.

2.   Interpretation and final approval of such EP study reports must be performed by a physician who is 

board certified in pediatric cardiology and meets the standards to be qualified as a pediatric 

electrophysiologist, as defined previously.

3.   Medical records must be retained for a period of no less than seven (7) years in a secure locked 

area.

 NOTE: Hospital wide requirements per 59A-3.270

78 H.  Outpatient Clinic Component

1.   Facility Criteria: include all standards, as outlined in the outpatient clinic section. In addition, an 

outpatient electrophysiology program must have the following components:

a.    Personnel:

i.      The physician in charge of this clinic is to be board eligible or board certified by the IBHRE and 

Basic Life Support and have special expertise in arrhythmias and device management. The physician 

must be IBHRE certified within 5 years of becoming Board eligible.

(3)(a)2. Electrophysiology services shall be under the direction of a pediatric electrophysiologist board 

certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics andby the 

International Board of Heart Rhythm Examiners.

(3)(b)2 The physician in charge of an electrophysiology procedure must be a pediatric electrophysiologist 

board certified by the Sub-Board of Pediatric Cardiology of the American Board of Pediatrics.

(3)(b)4 Board eligible physicians must be board certified within 5 years of becoming eligible.

79 ii.   The involved nurse/technician is to have special expertise in CIED management and be certified in 

both Basic Life Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support.

(3)(c)1. The cardiac catheterization, elecrophysiology and cardiovascular surgical services must have 

registred nurses with special training in cardiovascular techniques in the care of pediatric and adult 

congenital heart patients and have skills in the pre and post procedure evaluations and provision of 

instruction to the patient and their family members.

2. Registred nurses providing care in the cardiac catheterization and elecrophysiology laboratories must 

be trained and experienced with cardiovascular implantable electronic device management and be 

certified in Basic Life Support and Pediatric Advanced Life Support.

80 2.   Device Management: Pacemaker, Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator (ICD) and Cardiac 

Resynchronization Therapy (CRT) device monitoring may be performed by combining both in-clinic and 

remote (home) monitoring.

(2)(d)2. Provide arrhythmia (holter) monitoring, implanted electronic device monitoring, stress testing, 

imaging, and pulmonary function testing to meet the needs of the pediatric and adult congenital patients;

Page 16 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

81 3.   Equipment

a.    For in-clinic monitoring – the following items must be available: Electrocardiographic (EKG) 

recording machine, external defibrillator, and proprietary CIED programmers from every company 

pertinent to the patients being seen.

b.   For remote monitoring, some form of surveillance must be available including traditional trans-

telephonic monitoring (TTM).

(5)(c) Each hospital must have age and size appropriate equipment available for patients receiving 

pediatric cardiac services, including:

1. Multi-dimentional imaging equipment for magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance 

angiography, computed tomography, echocardiography, and scintigraphy;

2. A special procedure x-ray room with diagnostic x-ray examination table;

3. X-ray equipment with the capability in cineangiocardiography, or equipment with similar capabilities;

4. An image intensifier;

5. An automatic injector;

6. An electrocardiograph;

7. A multi-channel electrophysiology recording system;

8. A cardiopulmonary monitoring system;

9. Emergency equipmernt, including temprary pacemaker units with catheters, ventilatory assistance 

devices, and a DC defibrillator; 

10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s; and

11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine.

82 4.   Records: A complete database of patients with devices should be maintained and to include all 

device models and ID numbers, Lead models and ID numbers.

a.    Records generated from the pacemaker visits shall be maintained for a minimum of 7 years.

(5)(e) In addition to the requirements in rule 59A-3.270, each hospital shall maintain a complete database 

of patients with devices to include all device models and ID numbers, and Lead models and ID numbers.

83 V.  Advanced Congenital Cardiac Imaging

A.   Imaging modalities

Advanced diagnostic imaging provides multi- dimensional imaging and quantitative data used to plan 

cardiac interventions. These modalities shall include, but are not limited to:

1.   Cardiac MRI, MRA with 3D reconstructions

2.   Cardiac Computed Tomography, CT angiography, 3D reconstructions, coronary CTA

3.   Pulmonary scintigraphy

(5)(c) Each hospital must have age and size appropriate equipment available for patients receiving 

pediatric cardiac services, including:

1. Multi-dimentional imaging equipment for magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance 

angiography, computed tomography, echocardiography, and scintigraphy;

2. A special procedure x-ray room with diagnostic x-ray examination table;

3. X-ray equipment with the capability in cineangiocardiography, or equipment with similar capabilities;

4. An image intensifier;

5. An automatic injector;

6. An electrocardiograph;

7. A multi-channel electrophysiology recording system;

8. A cardiopulmonary monitoring system;

9. Emergency equipmernt, including temprary pacemaker units with catheters, ventilatory assistance 

devices, and a DC defibrillator; 

10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s; and

11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine.

Page 17 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

84 B.   Team Members:

1.   Physicians

a.    Physician in Charge: The physician in charge shall be a board certified radiologist or board certified 

pediatric trained cardiologist responsible for overseeing protocol development, adherence, staffing 

development, facility/equipment standards, and quality assurance processes for advanced imaging of 

congenital cardiac disease.

2.   Physician Credentialing- Cardiac MRI, MRA

a.    Radiology Track: Physician with board certification in radiology or within 2 years of radiology 

residency shall fulfill 2008 ACCF COCATS3 requirements for Level 2 training specific to congenital 

cardiac MRI.

b.   Cardiology Track: Physician with board certification in Pediatric Cardiology or within 2 years of 

training shall fulfill the 2008 ACCF COCATS3 requirements for Level 2 training in congenital cardiac MRI.

c.    MAINTENANCE: All physicians performing cardiac MRI examinations shall demonstrate evidence of 

continuing education and competence in the interpretation and reporting of MRI examinations.

3.   Physician Experience Congenital Cardiac Computed Tomography

a.    Education in cardiac anatomy, physiology, pathology, and cardiac CT imaging for a time equivalent 

to at least 30 hours of CME and including

b.                  Physician with board certification in radiology or within 2 years of radiology training shall 

fulfill 2008 ACCF COCATS3 requirements for Level 2 training specific to congenital cardiac CT.

c.    MAINTENANCE: Physicians performing cardiac CT examinations shall demonstrate evidence of 

continuing education and competence in the interpretation and reporting of cMRI examinations

(3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

 NOTE: Hospital governing boards are responsible for the physician credentialing procedure per 59A-

3.272

Page 18 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

85 C.   Facilities

1.   Testing environment

a.    The imaging environment shall be conducive to patient safety, comfort, and cooperation.

2.   Imaging equipment, software

a.    Cardiac MRI scanners shall be ACR accredited with equipment performance monitoring in 

accordance with state, federal requirements.

b.   Cardiac MRI scanners shall have field strength of > 1.5 Tesla and equipped with localized 

multichannel radiofrequency surface coil and ECG gating.  ECG gating capabilities shall include 

prospective triggering, retrospective gating, and triggered retrogating.

c.    An MRI-compatible power injector is required for performing myocardial perfusion MR imaging or 

any MR angiographic methods.

d.   The MRI scanner shall be capable of fast 3-D gradient-echo imaging, steady-state imaging with free 

precession, phase- contrast flow quantification, fast multi-slice myocardial perfusion imaging, and late 

contrast-enhanced myocardial imaging. Parallel imaging and half-Fourier capabilities are desirable to 

permit shortened breath-hold requirements.

e.    Commercial FDA-approved software for processing data (calculation of ejection fractions, 

reformatting angiographic data) shall be available either as part of the MRI system or on a separate 

workstation. Post-processing shall be performed or supervised by the cardiac MRI physician.

(5)(c) Each hospital must have age and size appropriate equipment available for patients receiving 

pediatric cardiac services, including:

1. Multi-dimentional imaging equipment for magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance 

angiography, computed tomography, echocardiography, and scintigraphy;

2. A special procedure x-ray room with diagnostic x-ray examination table;

3. X-ray equipment with the capability in cineangiocardiography, or equipment with similar capabilities;

4. An image intensifier;

5. An automatic injector;

6. An electrocardiograph;

7. A multi-channel electrophysiology recording system;

8. A cardiopulmonary monitoring system;

9. Emergency equipmernt, including temprary pacemaker units with catheters, ventilatory assistance 

devices, and a DC defibrillator; 

10. Biplane angiography, with framing rates of 30-60 fps and injection rates of up to 40 mL/s; and

11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine.

(d) Cardiac MRI scanners shall:

1. Be accredited by a national accrediting organization that is approved by the Centers for Medicare and 

Medicaid Services for magnetic resonance imaging and advanced diagnostic imaging services;

2. Have field strength of > 1.5 Tesla and equipped with localized multichannel radiofrequency surface coil 

and ECG gating capable of prospective triggering, retrospective gating, and triggered retrogating;

3. Have an MRI-compatible power injector for performing myocardial perfusion MR imaging or any MR 

angiographic methods.

4. Be capable of fast 3-D gradient-echo imaging, steady-state imaging with free precession, phase- 

contrast flow quantification, fast multi-slice myocardial perfusion imaging, and late contrast-enhanced 

myocardial imaging. Parallel imaging and half-Fourier capabilities are desirable to permit shortened 

breath-hold requirements.

86 3.   Emergency equipment

a.    Appropriate emergency equipment and medications must be immediately available to treat adverse 

reactions associated with administered medications.

b.   The equipment and medications shall be monitored for inventory and drug expiration dates on a 

regular basis. The equipment, medications, and other emergency support must be appropriate for the 

range of ages and sizes in the patient population.

(5)(b)2. A crash cart containing the necessary medication and age and size appropriate equipment for 

ventilatory support. A listing of all crash cart contents shall be readily available. At the beginning of each 

shift, the crash cart shall be checked for intact lock; the defribrillator and corresponding equipment shall 

be checked for function and operational capacity. A log shall be maintained indicating review.

87 D.  Records and archive requirements

1.   Reporting shall be available in the electronic medical records in accordance to facility reporting 

timelines.

 NOTE: Hospital wide requirements per 59A-3.270

Page 19 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

88 E.   A quality improvement process shall be utilized to evaluate for completeness, correlation and 

accuracy.

(2)(a)2 Develop a quality assurance and improvement program, including a risk adjustment surgical 

procedure protocol following the guidelines established by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, to monitor 

processes and outcomes, analyze data, and identify system improvements for each component of 

pediatric cardiac services, and integrate the program into the hospital wide quality improvement program 

as required by rule 59A-3.271, F.A.C.

89 VI.               Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Centers

The Secretary of AHCA or designee considers existing facilities for continuing involvement based upon 

the recommendation of the PCTAP and all the criteria established above. The Secretary of AHCA or 

designee shall make the final decision as to whether or not to continue such an agreement with the 

Agency.

 NOTE: AHCA licensure process.

90 A.   Diagnosis and treatment are so closely related that an AHCA Pediatric and Congenital 

Cardiovascular Surgical Program, AHCA Pediatric Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory Component and 

an AHCA Pediatric Cardiology Clinic Component must be co-located on the same campus.

B.   General pediatric coverage with sub-specialty capability twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.

C.   An effective system (with documentation) of rapid referral and transportation.

(2)(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

1. Ensure all staff participating as members of the catheterization team or cardiovascular surgery team, 

including physicians, nurses, and technical staff must participate in a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week 

call schedule capable of rapid mobilization of the team(s) within 30 minutes for emergency 

catheterization procedures and capable of cardiovascular surgery within 2 hours;

(2)(d) Ambulatory care clinics serving pediatric and adult congenital patients must be located on the 

hospital premises

91 D.  Cardiac Team – Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Surgical Program must have accredited 

pediatric and general surgery training programs with house staff or must have other arrangements to 

provide 24-hour physician or house staff coverage.

1.   DOH credentialed thoracic and cardiovascular surgeon with special training, interest and experience 

with pediatric cardiac patients and certification by the American Board of Thoracic Surgery. All such 

surgeons will have 5 years to become Board Certified after becoming eligible for such an examination.

2.   DOH credentialed associate thoracic and cardiovascular surgeon with special training interest and 

experience with pediatric cardiac patients and certification by the American Board of Thoracic Surgery. 

Such an associate surgeon should be either “on-site”, available through an established agreement with 

another AHCA PCCC, or available by an established organizational format approved by the Secretary of 

AHCA or designee.

(2)(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

1. Ensure all staff participating as members of the catheterization team or cardiovascular surgery team, 

including physicians, nurses, and technical staff must participate in a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week 

call schedule capable of rapid mobilization of the team(s) within 30 minutes for emergency 

catheterization procedures and capable of cardiovascular surgery within 2 hours;

(3)(b) 4. Board eligible physicians must be board certified within 5 years of becoming eligible.

5. A physician who is not board certified, or who is not eligible due to foreign training or similar 

circumstance may provide pediatric cardiac services upon documentation of education, training, or 

alternative certification acceptable to the medical director and hospital’s governing board or designated 

credentialing committee.

 NOTE: Hospital governing boards are responsible for the physician credentialing procedure per 59A-

3.272

92 3.   In regards to the above thoracic and cardiovascular surgeons, since the new Sub-Board of PCCC 

under the American Board of Thoracic Surgery is now fully implemented, at least one surgeon who 

started such training after July 1, 2008 must be certified by this new Board within 5 years of becoming 

eligible.

(3)(b)3. At least one pediatric cardiovascular surgeon shall be board certified or eligible by the American 

Board of Thoracic Surgery, specialty certification in congenital cardiac surgery.

Page 20 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

93 4.   Pediatric and congenital heart cardiac surgeons, either trained in other countries or for any other 

reason not eligible for certification by the American Board of Thoracic Surgery, or the new Sub-Board of 

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Surgery, may be credentialed as an DOH physician by the 

Surgeon General/Secretary of the Department of Health or designee as a special situation after a review 

and in-depth evaluation by the PCTAP, which recommended such approval.

(3)(b)5. A physician who is not board certified, or who is not eligible due to foreign training or similar 

circumstance may provide pediatric cardiac services upon documentation of education, training, or 

alternative certification acceptable to the medical director and hospital’s governing board or designated 

credentialing committee.

94 5.   Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology must be available for consultation and 

management of patients with heart disease.

6.   Radiologist trained in cardiopulmonary disease.

7.   Anesthesiologist with training and experience in open and closed heart pediatric anesthesia.

(3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

d. Anesthesiologists; and

e. Pathologists.

95 8.   Respiratory Therapist with training and experience in short and long- term ventilatory support in 

infants and children.

9.   Technicians available 24 hours a day for laboratory and radiology procedures.

(3)(d) Additional Staff. Each hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall have a number of 

perfusionists, cardiovascular technologists, respiratory therapists, radiologic technicians, clinical 

laboratory personnel, and social workers  available at all times to meet the needs of any patient.

96 10.  Specially trained nurses for preoperative evaluation and instruction of the patient and family, 

intensive care, and convalescent care.

(3)(c)1. The cardiac catheterization, elecrophysiology and cardiovascular surgical services unit must 

have registred nurses with special training in cardiovascular techniques in the care of pediatric and adult 

congenital heart patients and have skills in the pre and post procedure evaluations and provision of 

instruction to the patient and their family members.

97 11. Pathologist with skills and training in cardiovascular pathology. (3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

d. Anesthesiologists; and

e. Pathologists.

98 12.  The facility must identify and utilize a core surgical team.

13.  Involved staff will make a priority of maintaining on-going communication throughout the patient’s 

hospital course with the patient’s primary care physician.

14.  Continuous availability of a team skilled in performing intra-operative TEE’s to aid in the post-surgical 

assessment of operative procedures.

(a) A hospital providing pediatric cardiac services shall:

1. Ensure all staff participating as members of the catheterization team or cardiovascular surgery team, 

including physicians, nurses, and technical staff must participate in a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week 

call schedule capable of rapid mobilization of the team(s) within 30 minutes for emergency 

catheterization procedures and capable of cardiovascular surgery within 2 hours;

Page 21 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

99 15. Availability of Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) (5)(c)11. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation machine.

100 E.   Pre-operative Preparation

1.   Dedicated pediatric patient rooms with provision for a parent, relative or guardian to remain overnight 

with hospitalized child.

2.   Clear instructions to parents and patient with pre-operative visits to catheterization laboratory, 

intensive care unit, and other sites as needed, consistent with their ability to comprehend.

3.   Care management conference between the pediatric cardiologist, pediatric and congenital heart 

cardiac surgeon, and other professional staff as necessary documented in the patient record.

(2)(f) Each hospital must have policies and procedures for accommodating a parent, relative or guardian 

of a pediatric patient to stay overnight with the patient.

101 F.   Post-operative Care

1.   All post-operative care must be under the direction of the involved DOH credentialed cardiovascular 

surgeons in constant (24/7) communication with, and in support of, the post-operative cardiovascular 

team composed of pediatric intensivists, cardiologists, neonatologists, anesthesiologists, and other 

personnel as needed. In certain cases, the involved pediatric and congenital heart cardiac surgeon may 

transfer primary responsibilities to another member of the team, such as cases with arrhythmias, or 

neonates on Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU).

(3)(b)7. The organized medical staff membership shall contain a complement of physicians with training 

or experience with pediatric cardiac patients to be available for consultation as needed, including:

a. Pediatric cardiologists;

b. Pediatric sub-specialists with expertise in hematology, nephrology, neurology, infectious disease, 

critical care, genetics, gastroenterology and pulmonology;

c. Radiologists;

d. Anesthesiologists; and

e. Pathologists.

102 2.    Each AHCA Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Surgical Facility must have a dedicated 

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Intensive Care Unit with personnel specially trained in 

Congenital Heart Disease, including physicians, nurses, respiratory specialists, and ancillary staff. Such a 

unit may be either a separate cardiac ICU or a dedicated component within a Pediatric Intensive Care 

Unit. Guidelines for Pediatric Cardiovascular Centers: Pediatrics.

2002: Vol. 109 No. 3 544-549

 NOTE: Refer to definitions in rule 59A-3.065, FAC

“Pediatric cardiac services” means integrated hospital services providing age-appropriate diagnostic and 

interventional cardiac catheterization and cardiovascular surgical services on the premises of the hospital 

and available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week to pediatric and adult congenital patients.  Hospitals 

providing pediatric cardiac services must have the capability to provide treatment of cardiac trauma, 

coronary angioplasty, valvuloplasty, echocardiography, cardiac electrophysiology, advanced cardiac 

imaging, post-operative intensive care, and outpatient cardiac clinic services. For the purpose of Rule 

59A-3.248, F.A.C., cardiovascular surgical services does not include heart transplantation.

103 3.   The facility must be co-located with an AHCA Pediatric Cardiology Clinic Facility and an AHCA 

Pediatric Catheterization facility.

(2)(d) Ambulatory care clinics serving pediatric and adult congenital patients must be located on the 

hospital premises

 NOTE: All hospital inpatient services must be provided within a licensed facility.

Page 22 of 23



Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248 2 (002).xlsx

Pediatric and Congenital Cardiovascular Center Recommended Standards Proposed Rule 59A-3.248

104 4.   All AHCA PCCC must collect and submit the following quality assurance data to STS:

a.    Number of patients/ operations submitted and an analysis, operative mortality, and complexity 

information, by year

b.   Number of patients/operations in analysis, operative mortality, and complexity information, by age 

group

c.    Primary procedure outcomes, by anomaly

d.   STS-EACTS (STAT) Mortality Category Operative Mortality, by year

e.    STS-EACTS (STAT) Mortality Category Operative Mortality, by age group

(7)(b) 13. The following quality assurance data must be compiled annually from their Society of Thoracic 

Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database Report and available for Agency review upon request:

a. Number of patients/operations submitted and an analysis of operative mortality, and complexity 

information, by year;

b. Number of patient/operations in analysis, operative mortality, and complexity information, by age 

group;

c. Primary Procedure Operative Mortality;

d. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality Category 

Operative Mortality, by year;

e. Society of Thoracic Surgeons - European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Mortality Category 

Operative Mortality, by age group.

Page 23 of 23



 
 
 
 
 
 

2019 FLORIDA STATUTE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



395.1055 (10) – (15) Rules and enforcement.— 

(10) The agency shall establish a pediatric cardiac technical advisory panel, pursuant to s. 20.052, 

to develop procedures and standards for measuring outcomes of pediatric cardiac catheterization 

programs and pediatric cardiovascular surgery programs. 

(a) Members of the panel must have technical expertise in pediatric cardiac medicine, shall serve 

without compensation, and may be reimbursed for per diem and travel expenses. 

(b) Voting members of the panel shall include: 3 at-large members, and 3 alternate at-large 

members with different program affiliations, including 1 cardiologist who is board certified in caring 

for adults with congenital heart disease and 2 board-certified pediatric cardiologists, neither of whom 

may be employed by any of the hospitals specified in subparagraphs 1.-10. or their affiliates, each of 

whom is appointed by the Secretary of Health Care Administration, and 10 members, and an alternate 

for each member, each of whom is a pediatric cardiologist or a pediatric cardiovascular surgeon, each 

appointed by the chief executive officer of the following hospitals: 

1. Johns Hopkins All Children’s Hospital in St. Petersburg. 

2. Arnold Palmer Hospital for Children in Orlando. 

3. Joe DiMaggio Children’s Hospital in Hollywood. 

4. Nicklaus Children’s Hospital in Miami. 

5. St. Joseph’s Children’s Hospital in Tampa. 

6. University of Florida Health Shands Hospital in Gainesville. 

7. University of Miami Holtz Children’s Hospital in Miami. 

8. Wolfson Children’s Hospital in Jacksonville. 

9. Florida Hospital for Children in Orlando. 

10. Nemours Children’s Hospital in Orlando. 

Appointments made under subparagraphs 1.-10. are contingent upon the hospital’s compliance with 

this section and rules adopted thereunder, as determined by the Secretary of Health Care 

Administration. A member appointed under subparagraphs 1.-10. whose hospital fails to comply with 

such standards may serve only as a nonvoting member until the hospital complies with such standards. 

A voting member may serve a maximum of two 2-year terms and may be reappointed to the panel after 

being retired from the panel for a full 2-year term. 

(c) The Secretary of Health Care Administration may appoint nonvoting members to the panel. 

Nonvoting members may include: 

1. The Secretary of Health Care Administration. 

2. The Surgeon General. 

3. The Deputy Secretary of Children’s Medical Services. 

4. Any current or past Division Director of Children’s Medical Services. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=395.1055&URL=0000-0099/0020/Sections/0020.052.html


5. A parent of a child with congenital heart disease. 

6. An adult with congenital heart disease. 

7. A representative from each of the following organizations: the Florida Chapter of the American 

Academy of Pediatrics, the Florida Chapter of the American College of Cardiology, the Greater 

Southeast Affiliate of the American Heart Association, the Adult Congenital Heart Association, the 

March of Dimes, the Florida Association of Children’s Hospitals, and the Florida Society of Thoracic and 

Cardiovascular Surgeons. 

(d) The panel shall meet biannually, or more frequently upon the call of the Secretary of Health 

Care Administration. Such meetings may be conducted telephonically, or by other electronic means. 

(e) The duties of the panel include recommending to the agency standards for quality of care, 

personnel, physical plant, equipment, emergency transportation, and data reporting for hospitals that 

provide pediatric cardiac services. 

(f) Beginning on January 1, 2020, and annually thereafter, the panel shall submit a report to the 

Governor, the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Secretary of 

Health Care Administration, and the State Surgeon General. The report must summarize the panel’s 

activities during the preceding fiscal year and include data and performance measures on surgical 

morbidity and mortality for all pediatric cardiac programs. 

(g) Panel members are agents of the state for purposes of s. 768.28 throughout the good faith 

performance of the duties assigned to them by the Secretary of Health Care Administration. 

(11) The Secretary of Health Care Administration shall consult the pediatric cardiac technical 

advisory panel for an advisory recommendation on any certificate of need applications to establish 

pediatric cardiac surgical centers. 

(12) Based on the recommendations of the pediatric cardiac technical advisory panel, the agency 

shall adopt rules for pediatric cardiac programs which, at a minimum, include: 

(a) Standards for pediatric cardiac catheterization services and pediatric cardiovascular surgery 

including quality of care, personnel, physical plant, equipment, emergency transportation, data 

reporting, and appropriate operating hours and timeframes for mobilization for emergency procedures. 

(b) Outcome standards consistent with nationally established levels of performance in pediatric 

cardiac programs. 

(c) Specific steps to be taken by the agency and licensed facilities when the facilities do not meet 

the outcome standards within a specified time, including time required for detailed case reviews and 

the development and implementation of corrective action plans. 

(13) A pediatric cardiac program shall: 

(a) Have a pediatric cardiology clinic affiliated with a hospital licensed under this chapter. 

(b) Have a pediatric cardiac catheterization laboratory and a pediatric cardiovascular surgical 

program located in the hospital. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=395.1055&URL=0700-0799/0768/Sections/0768.28.html


(c) Have a risk adjustment surgical procedure protocol following the guidelines established by the 

Society of Thoracic Surgeons. 

(d) Have quality assurance and quality improvement processes in place to enhance clinical 

operation and patient satisfaction with services. 

(e) Participate in the clinical outcome reporting systems operated by the Society of Thoracic 

Surgeons and the American College of Cardiology. 

(14)(a) The Secretary of Health Care Administration may request announced or unannounced site 

visits to any existing pediatric cardiac surgical center or facility seeking licensure as a pediatric cardiac 

surgical center through the certificate of need process, to ensure compliance with this section and 

rules adopted hereunder. 

(b) At the request of the Secretary of Health Care Administration, the pediatric cardiac technical 

advisory panel shall recommend in-state physician experts to conduct an onsite visit. The Secretary 

may also appoint up to two out-of-state physician experts. 

(c) A site visit team shall conduct an onsite inspection of the designated hospital’s pediatric 

medical and surgical programs, and each member shall submit a written report of his or her findings to 

the panel. The panel shall discuss the written reports and present an advisory opinion to the Secretary 

of Health Care Administration which includes recommendations and any suggested actions for 

correction. 

(d) Each onsite inspection must include all of the following: 

1. An inspection of the program’s physical facilities, clinics, and laboratories. 

2. Interviews with support staff and hospital administrators. 

3. A review of: 

a. Randomly selected medical records and reports, including, but not limited to, advanced cardiac 

imaging, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, cardiac ultrasound, cardiac 

catheterization, and surgical operative notes. 

b. The program’s clinical outcome data submitted to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons and the 

American College of Cardiology pursuant to s. 408.05(3)(k). 

c. Mortality reports from cardiac-related deaths that occurred in the previous year. 

d. Program volume data from the preceding year for interventional and electrophysiology 

catheterizations and surgical procedures. 

(15) The Surgeon General shall provide quarterly reports to the Secretary of Health Care 

Administration consisting of data from the Children’s Medical Services’ critical congenital heart disease 

screening program for review by the advisory panel. 
 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=395.1055&URL=0400-0499/0408/Sections/0408.05.html


 
 
 
 
 
 

SUNSHINE LAW REVIEW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





















 
 
 
 
 
 

 
STS REPORT MOCK UP  

(1 OF 2) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Hospital Name Population: Neonates, 

Infants, Children & Adults

# Eligible Observed Expected O/E Ratio (95% CI) Adj. Rate (95% CI) Overall Star 

Rating
Overall 11 480 2.3% 3.6% 0.64 (0.32, 1.14) 1.8 (0.9, 3.2)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 125 0% 0.4% 0 (0, 7) 0 (0, 2.7)

STAT Mortality Category 2 2 183 1.1% 2.1% 0.53 (0.06, 1.88) 0.8 (0.1, 2.8)

STAT Mortality Category 3 1 52 1.9% 3.1% 0.62 (0.02, 3.3) 1.3 (0, 7.1)

STAT Mortality Category 4 5 88 5.7% 6.9% 0.82 (0.27, 1.84) 5.2 (1.7, 11.6)

STAT Mortality Category 5 3 32 9.4% 16.1% 0.58 (0.12, 1.56) 8.1 (1.7, 21.7)

Overall 15 477 3.1% 2.3% 1.39 (0.78, 2.27) 3.9 (2.2, 6.4)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 139 0% 0.3% 0 (0, 7.68) 0 (0, 3)

STAT Mortality Category 2 4 202 2% 1.3% 1.5 (0.41, 3.79) 2.3 (0.6, 5.7)

STAT Mortality Category 3 3 42 7.1% 2.8% 2.51 (0.53, 6.84) 5.4 (1.1, 14.7)

STAT Mortality Category 4 8 85 9.4% 6% 1.57 (0.69, 2.96) 9.9 (4.4, 18.6)

STAT Mortality Category 5 0 9 0% 15.2% 0 (0, 2.21) 0 (0, 30.8)

Overall 11 328 3.4% 2% 1.66 (0.83, 2.93) 4.7 (2.3, 8.2)

STAT Mortality Category 1 1 119 0.8% 0.3% 2.69 (0.07, 14.73) 1.1 (0, 5.8)

STAT Mortality Category 2 2 114 1.8% 1.2% 1.47 (0.18, 5.19) 2.2 (0.3, 7.8)

STAT Mortality Category 3 0 22 0% 1.5% 0 (0, 10.59) 0 (0, 22.7)

STAT Mortality Category 4 6 61 9.8% 4% 2.45 (0.92, 5.03) 15.4 (5.8, 31.7)

STAT Mortality Category 5 2 12 16.7% 17.7% 0.94 (0.12, 2.73) 13.1 (1.6, 38.1)

Overall 21 620 3.4% 3.4% 1 (0.62, 1.51) 2.8 (1.7, 4.2)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 183 0% 0.3% 0 (0, 6.44) 0 (0, 2.5)

STAT Mortality Category 2 4 202 2% 1.4% 1.42 (0.39, 3.59) 2.1 (0.6, 5.4)

STAT Mortality Category 3 2 62 3.2% 2.2% 1.46 (0.18, 5.05) 3.1 (0.4, 10.8)

STAT Mortality Category 4 9 145 6.2% 8.1% 0.76 (0.35, 1.41) 4.8 (2.2, 8.9)

STAT Mortality Category 5 6 28 21.4% 16.0% 1.34 (0.52, 2.56) 18.7 (7.2, 35.7)

Overall 21 515 4.1% 3.0% 1.36 (0.85, 2.06) 3.8 (2.4, 5.8)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 121 0% 0.4% 0 (0, 7.28) 0 (0, 2.8)

STAT Mortality Category 2 20 194 1% 1.3% 0.8 (0.1, 2.86) 1.2 (0.1, 4.3)

STAT Mortality Category 3 3 55 5.5% 2.1% 2.58 (0.54, 7.15) 5.5 (1.2, 15.3)

STAT Mortality Category 4 11 117 9.4% 6.5% 1.46 (0.74, 2.51) 9.2 (4.7, 15.8)

STAT Mortality Category 5 5 28 17.9% 13.1% 1.36 (0.46, 2.81) 18.9 (6.4, 39.2)

The Society of Thoracic Surgeons - STS Public Reporting Online -

Operative and Adjusted Operative Mortality, Last 4 Years (January 2015 - December 2018)  

Arnold Palmer Medical Center

Florida Hospital for Children



Holtz Children's Hospital 



https://publicreporting.sts.org/chsd?title=&field_state_value=FL 

Joe DiMaggio Children's Hospital

Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital





https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1184709057
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1457500191
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1225033020
https://publicreporting.sts.org/chsd?title=&field_state_value=FL
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1306177589
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1427114099


Overall 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

STAT Mortality Category 2 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

STAT Mortality Category 3 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

STAT Mortality Category 4 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

STAT Mortality Category 5 0 0 0.00% 0% 0 (0,0) 0 (0,0)

Overall 29 1005 2.9% 2.6% 1.1 (0.74, 1.57) 3.1 (2.1, 4.4)

STAT Mortality Category 1 1 325 0.3% 0.4% 0.77 (0.02, 4.26) 0.3 (0, 1.7)

STAT Mortality Category 2 5 390 1.3% 1.5% 0.85 (0.28, 1.96) 1.3 (0.4, 2.9)

STAT Mortality Category 3 0 79 0% 1.8% 0 (0, 2.54) 0 (0, 5.4)

STAT Mortality Category 4 16 174 9.2% 6.7% 1.37 (0.79, 2.15) 8.6 (5, 13.6)

STAT Mortality Category 5 7 37 18.9% 16.3% 1.16 (0.49, 2.16) 16.2 (6.8, 30.1)

Overall 13 641 2% 2.9% 0.7 (0.38, 1.19) 2 (1.1, 3.3)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 194 0% 0.3% 0 (0, 6.06) 0 (0, 2.4)

STAT Mortality Category 2 2 231 0.9% 1.3% 0.66 (0.08, 2.37) 1 (0.1, 3.6)

STAT Mortality Category 3 1 68 1.5% 2.4% 0.61 (0.02, 3.26) 1.3 (0, 7)

STAT Mortality Category 4 8 130 6.2% 7.7% 0.8 (0.35, 1.53) 5 (2.2, 9.6)

STAT Mortality Category 5 2 18 11.1% 17.8% 0.62 (0.08, 1.95) 8.7 (1.1, 27.1)

Overall 11 858 1.3% 2.2% 0.57 (0.29, 1.02) 1.6 (0.8, 2.9)

STAT Mortality Category 1 0 243 0% 0.4% 0 (0, 4.15) 0 (0, 1.6)

STAT Mortality Category 2 6 292 2.1% 1.2% 1.75 (0.65, 3.77) 2.6 (1, 5.7)

STAT Mortality Category 3 0 71 0% 1.7% 0 (0, 2.9) 0 (0, 6.2)

STAT Mortality Category 4 4 222 1.8% 4.3% 0.42 (0.11, 1.06) 2.6 (0.7, 6.7)

STAT Mortality Category 5 1 30 3.3% 13.5% 0.25 (0.01, 1.28) 3.4 (0.1, 17.8)

Overall 13 525 2.5% 1.5% 1.6 (0.86, 2.72) 4.5 (2.4, 7.6)

STAT Mortality Category 1 1 178 0.6% 0.3% 2.02 (0.05, 11.1) 0.8 (0, 4.3)

STAT Mortality Category 2 6 201 3% 1.3% 2.29 (0.85, 4.89) 3.4 (1.3, 7.3)

STAT Mortality Category 3 3 68 4.4% 1.6% 2.74 (0.57, 7.67) 5.9 (1.2, 16.5)

STAT Mortality Category 4 2 67 3.0% 4.5% 0.66 (0.08, 2.29) 4.2 (0.5, 14.5)

STAT Mortality Category 5 1 11 9.1% 7.8% 1.16 (0.03, 5.28) 16.2 (0.4, 73.7)

Nemours Children's Hospital

Nicklaus Children's Hospital

St. Joseph's Children's Hospital BayCare Health System

Wolfson Children's Hospital

UF Health Shands Children's Hospital

https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1871540237
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1881632818
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1578620449
https://publicreporting.sts.org/congenital/1699874248


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STS REPORT MOCK UP 
(2 OF 2) 

 



Hospital 

Name

Off Bypass 

Coarctation 

VSD 

Repair

TOF 

Repair

Complete AV 

Canal Repair

Arterial 

Switch

Arterial Switch + 

VSD Repair

Glenn - HemiFontan 

or Superior 

Cavopulmonary 

Connection

Fontan
Truncus 

Repair
Norwood

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Measure Type

Arnold 

Palmer 

Medical 

Center

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Florida 

Hospital for 

Children

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Holtz 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Benchmark Operations: Overall Aggregate and Participant - Specific Mortality and Postoperative Length of Stay

Last 4 Years (Jul 2014- Jun 2018)



Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Joe 

DiMaggio 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Nicklaus 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Johns 

Hopkins All 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

Nemours 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality



Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Number of Mortalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Eligible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality Rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Mortality (95% CI) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Aggregate (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median (days) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

Interquartile Range (days) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0) (0.0-0.0)

UF Health 

Shands 

Children's 

Hospital

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay

St. Joseph's 

Children's 

Hospital 

BayCare 

Health 

System

Specific 

Mortality

Postoperative 

Length of Stay



www.ahca.myflorida.com/SCHS/PCTAP/index.shtml 

Agency for Health
Care Administration
2727 Mahan Drive

Tallahassee, FL  32308
(850) 412-3730


	PCTAP PACKET COVERPAGE - 092019
	Pediatric Cardiac       Technical Advisory Panel
	Slide Number 2

	PCTAP PACKET TITLE PAGES 092019
	PCTAP FINAL DRAFT AGENDA 092019
	PCTAP DRAFT MINUTES FULL PANEL 032819
	PCTAP DRAFT MINUTES PUBLIC REPORTING 071119
	PCTAP Rules letter
	Text_Proposed_59A-3.248  9-16-19
	Crosswalk PCTAP Recommendations to Proposed Rule 59A-3.248
	PCTAP 2019 Statute 395.1055 10-15
	PCTAP SUNSHINE LAW
	PCTAP STS REPORTS MOCKUP 091719
	PCTAP STS REPORTS MOCKUP 091719 2
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

